2006

Moises M. Morales and Lisa M. Morales v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

POINT I

Whether the trial court committed reversible error in its application of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act in dismissing the Plaintiff's Complaint and finding the Utah Governmental Immunity Act was not complied with

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The Trial Court's decision should be reviewed either for correctness or it should be assumed that the factual allegations in the complaint are true and all reasonable inferences should be viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. *Patterson v. American Fork City*, 67 P.3d 466 (Utah 2003). Also, a dismissal of a case based on governmental immunity is a determination of law to which an appellate court affords no difference. *Hall v. Utah State Dep't of Corr.*, 24 P.3d 958 (2001).

POINT II

Whether the trial court committed reversible error in not applying the doctrine of equitable estoppel instead of dismissing the Plaintiff's Complaint

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The Trial Court's decision should be reviewed either for correctness or it should be assumed that the factual allegations in the complaint are true and all reasonable inferences should be viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. *Patterson v. American Fork City*, 67 P.3d 466 (Utah 2003). Also, a dismissal of a case based

on governmental immunity is a determination of law to which an appellate court affords no difference. *Hall v. Utah State Dep't of Corr.*, 24 P.3d 958 (2001).

PRESERVATION FOR APPEAL

The issues sought to be reviewed were preserved for appeal by the Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Motion in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss (R. 0040-0099). The issues were also preserved by oral argument of which a transcript is part of the record before this Court.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

Utah Code Ann. §63-30d-401. Claim for injury–Notice–Contents–Service–Legal disability–Appointment of guardian ad litem.

(1) (a) Except as provided in Subsection (1)(b), a claim arises when the statute of limitations that would apply if the claim were against a private person begins to run.

(b) The statute of limitations does not begin to run until a claimant knew, or with the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known:

(i) that the claimant had a claim against the governmental entity or its employee; and

(ii) the identity of the governmental entity or the name of the employee.

(c) The burden to prove the exercise of reasonable diligence is upon the claimant.

(2) Any person having a claim against a governmental entity, or against its employee for an act or omission occurring during the performance of the employee's duties, within the scope

of employment, or under color of authority shall file a written notice of claim with the entity before maintaining an action, regardless of whether or not the function giving rise to the claim is characterized as governmental.

(3) (a) The notice of claim shall set forth:

(i) a brief statement of the facts;

(ii) the nature of the claim asserted;

(iii) the damages incurred by the claimant so far as they are known; and

(iv) if the claim is being pursued against a governmental employee individually as provided in Subsection 63-30d-202(3)(c), the name of the employee.

(b) The notice of claim shall be:

(i) signed by the person making the claim or that person's agent, attorney, parent, or legal guardian; and

(ii) directed and delivered by hand or by mail according to the requirements of Section 68-3-8.5 to the office of:

(A) the city or town clerk, when the claim is against an incorporated city or town;

(B) the county clerk, when the claim is against a county;

(C) the superintendent or business administrator of the board, when the claim is against a school district or board of education;

(D) the presiding officer or secretary/clerk of the board, when the claim

is against a special district;

(E) the attorney general, when the claim is against the State of Utah;

(F) a member of the governing board, the executive director, or executive secretary, when the claim is against any other public board, commission, or body;
or

(G) the agent authorized by a governmental entity to receive the notice of claim by the governmental entity under Subsection (5)(e).

(4) (a) If an injury that may reasonably be expected to result in a claim against a governmental entity is sustained by a claimant who is under the age of majority or mentally incompetent, that governmental entity may file a request with the court for the appointment of a guardian ad litem for the potential claimant.

(b) If a guardian ad litem is appointed, the time for filing a claim under Section 63-30d-402 begins when the order appointing the guardian is issued.

(5) (a) Each governmental entity subject to suit under this chapter shall file a statement with the Division of Corporations and Commercial Code within the Department of Commerce containing:

(i) the name and address of the governmental entity;

(ii) the office or agent designated to receive a notice of claim; and

(iii) the address at which it is to be directed and delivered.

(b) Each governmental entity shall update its statement as necessary to ensure that the

information is accurate.

(c) The Division of Corporations and Commercial Code shall develop a form for governmental entities to complete that provides the information required by Subsection (5)(a).

(d) (i) Newly incorporated municipalities shall file the statement required by Subsection (5)(a) at the time that the statement of incorporation and boundaries is filed with the lieutenant governor under Section 10-1-106.

(ii) Newly incorporated special districts shall file the statement required by Subsection (5)(a) at the time that the written notice of creation of the district is filed with the State Tax Commission and State Auditor under Sections 17A-1-102 and 17B-3-215.

(e) A governmental entity may, in its statement, identify an agent authorized by the entity to accept notices of claim on its behalf.

(6) The Division of Corporations and Commercial Code shall:

(a) maintain an index of the statements required by this section arranged both alphabetically by entity and by county of operation; and

(b) make the indices available to the public both electronically and via hard copy.

(7) A governmental entity may not challenge the validity of a notice of claim on the grounds that it was not directed and delivered to the proper office or agent if the error is caused by the governmental entity's failure to file or update the statement required by Subsection (5).

Utah Code Ann §63-30d-403. Notice of claim—Approval or denial by governmental entity or insurance carrier within 60 days—Remedies for denial of claim.

(1) (a) Within 60 days of the filing of a notice of claim, the governmental entity or its insurance carrier shall inform the claimant in writing that the claim has either been approved or denied.

(b) A claim is considered to be denied if, at the end of the 60-day period, the governmental entity or its insurance carrier has failed to approve or deny the claim.

(2) (a) If the claim is denied, a claimant may institute an action in the district court against the governmental entity or an employee of the entity.

(b) The claimant shall begin the action within one year after denial of the claim or within one year after the denial period specified in this chapter has expired, regardless of whether or not the function giving rise to the claim is characterized as governmental.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a personal injury case in which Mr. Morales brought claims against the State of Utah under the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. At the early stages of the case after a lawsuit had been filed the Defendant sought dismissal arguing the requirements of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act had not been complied with. After oral arguments the trial court dismissed the action with prejudice.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 12, 2003 Moises Morales was riding his motorcycle on a public road

located in Springville, Utah. At the time, a Mr. Randall R. Minor, who was a State employee at the time, was operating a State vehicle and entered the same road in which Mr. Morales was traveling, and collided with Mr. Morales. Mr. Morales had the right-of-way, and Mr. Minor failed to yield the right-of-way to Mr. Morales. (R. 0005). Mr. Morales suffered serious personal injuries, suffered significant medical bills and a loss of wages, and claimed mental anguish. (R. 0002-0004).

Mr. Morales, through prior counsel, filed a Notice of Claim against the State for the injuries which he suffered. (R. 0036). Subsequent to that being filed, Mr. Morales filed a Complaint for the injuries which were suffered. (R. 0114).

On October 17, 2005 the State filed a Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint with Prejudice alleging the statute of limitations had expired. (R. 0004-0007). On May 18, 2006 oral arguments were held before the trial court on this request. The trial court granted the Motion to Dismiss stating the statute of limitations had run, and did not agree with the Plaintiff/Appellant's claim that estoppel applied to keep this action viable.

It is from this decision the present matter is on appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Utah Governmental Immunity Act is applicable to cases which name the State of Utah in claims of personal injury. Compliance with this Act is a mandatory prerequisite to commencing a legal action. In the case currently before this Court, Mr. Morales has complied with the Act and the dismissal of his personal injury lawsuit was improper.

Along with the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, the doctrine of equitable estoppel will allow claims to proceed under certain circumstances when justified reliance or a manifest injustice will occur. This is also applicable in the case before the Court.

ARGUMENT

I. Moises Morales complied with the requisite elements of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act and it was improper to dismiss his claims

It is not in dispute that the Utah Governmental Immunity Act governs claims similar to the one presently before the Court. Utah Code Ann. §63-30d-401 *et seq.* Strict compliance to this procedure was fairly recently affirmed by the Utah Supreme Court. *Davis v. Central Utah Counseling Ctr.*, 147 P.3d 390 (Utah 2006). In this matter, a claim was brought against the defendant based on the suicide of one of its patients. The plaintiff's attorney contacted the defendant after the suicide to ascertain whether the defendant was a governmental entity for purposes of serving a Notice of Claim under the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. The same attorney also verified this information through the Attorney General's office and the appropriate internet website. *Id.* at 393. After a lawsuit was commenced, the case was dismissed on summary judgment based on the fact that the defendant was an interlocal agency, and the proper parties for an interlocal agency were not served the Notice of Claim as outlined in the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

A controlling case that discusses the requirements of strict compliance with the Utah Governmental Immunity Act is *Greene v. Utah Transit Auth.*, 37 P.3d 1156 (Utah 2001). In this matter, the plaintiff sued the defendant for injuries she suffered while boarding a public

bus. Prior to actually filing a lawsuit, the plaintiff's attorney had both written and oral communication with the defendant's claims adjuster. During one of these conversations, this adjuster advised the attorney to send the Notice of Claim directly to him even though he was not the person statutorily able to accept service. *Id.* at 1158. This occurred, and the claim was denied because strict compliance with the delivery requirements as found in the Governmental Immunity Act was not followed. Unfortunately the one year statute of limitations to file a legal action had expired which led to the trial court dismissing the case. *Id.* The Utah Supreme Court upheld this dismissal based on the fact that strict compliance with the delivery requirements of the Notice of Claim was not followed even though there were allegations the defendant's adjuster intentionally misled the plaintiff's attorney. *Id.* at 1159-60. In *dicta* the Utah Supreme court expressed concern over any deceptive tactics by a defendant in similar cases.

In the present matter, the request Notice of Claim was served upon the necessary parties representing the State of Utah (R. 43; TR 4/20). There was also a letter sent to the State checking on the status of the Mr. Morales' claims. *Id.* A representative from the State stated its investigation was ongoing and when that investigation was complete there would be in a position to make a decision of coverage and liability. (R. 0092-0093; TR. 7/9-8/11). Subsequent correspondence between the parties about coverage occurred, with the State giving the same type of response. (R. 0092).

To argue that the Plaintiff did not comply with the necessary statutory guidelines as

found in the Utah governmental Immunity Act is nonsensical. The State itself must have approved Mr. Morales' claims based on the fact they had already approved and sought to settle the property damage claims for \$5400. (R. 0099, TR. 26/6-7). This is not only an acceptance of the claim but avoids the trigger of a deemed denial of the claim. It is also illogical to accept the State's view because this would allow the State to pick and choose what parts of a claim to grant. This is clearly not granted or anticipated under the statute. Even if the trial court was correct in its determination that Mr. Morales had not complied with the Utah Governmental Immunity Act the doctrine of equitable estoppel would keep Mr. Morales' claims viable.

II. The application of the doctrine of equitable estoppel will prevent a significant and manifest injustice from being perpetrated against Moises Morales for the personal injury which he suffered at the hand of a State employee

Issues between equitable estoppel and its interaction with the Utah Governmental Immunity Act have been decided by Utah Supreme Court as recently as four years ago. *Wheeler v. McPherson*, 40 P.3d 632 (Utah 2002). In this matter, the plaintiff brought a lawsuit for personal injury against a governmental employee. This was dismissed for failure to comply with the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. On appeal of the dismissal, the plaintiff tried to make an argument for equitable estoppel in relation to the Notice of Claim requirements. While making this argument, the plaintiff relied upon correspondence from the Kane County attorney and argued that office impliedly accepted the Notice of Claim. However, the letter did not in any way accept the Notice of Claim which the plaintiff filed.

Id. at 637. For example, the letter never mentioned the Notice of Claim, nor did subsequent communication between the parties address these issues. *Id.* However, there are factors to be evaluated to justify the application of equitable estoppel.

Underlying negotiations play a pivotal role in determining whether equitable estoppel is appropriate. *Rice v. Granite Sch. Dist.*, 23 Utah 2d 23, 456 P.2d 159 (Utah 1969). In this matter the plaintiff had been injured at a public school. While recovering from her injuries she had various correspondence with the school's insurance adjuster. The adjuster multiple times informed the plaintiff she would be fully compensated for her injuries after she recovered. 23 Utah 2d at 24, 456 P.2d at 161. While she was recovering she again contacted the carrier who for the first time told her claim was denied. *Id.* It was then she filed a lawsuit which was dismissed. On appeal the plaintiff raised the issue of estoppel, which the Utah Supreme Court addressed.

A key determination in applying equitable estoppel depends on the character of the negotiations between the parties. 23 Utah 2d at 27, 456 P.2d at 67. It was noted that in this case liability was admitted and compensation was promised for her injuries. Importantly, the Court noted the plaintiff was led to believe that the only unresolved issue was a determination of her damages. *Id.* The Court further found that the defendant's actions had lulled the plaintiff into inaction. *Id.* See also, *Whitaker v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, 522 P.2d 1252 (Utah 1974) (finding the State is estopped from relying on a statute of limitations defense when it makes assurances a settlement would be forthcoming after medical records

and reports are provided to the insurance adjuster).

When applying the doctrine of equitable estoppel, certain elements must be met. These include a determination of whether: (1) a relevant party acts or fails to act in a manner that is inconsistent with a subsequent claim; (2) the second party reasonably acts or does not act because of the first party's original act or failure to act; and (3) the second party would suffer injury based on the first party's actions. *CECO Corp. v. Concrete Specialists, Inc.*, 772 P.2d 967, 969-70 (Utah 1989). Equitable estoppel is applicable in a wide variety of cases.

The doctrine of equitable estoppel can be asserted against the State. *Eldredge v. Utah State Retirement Bd.*, 795 P.2d 671, 675 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). A key element in which the appellate courts have allowed this doctrine to be applied is when the injustice which would be suffered is sufficiently grave. *Id.* (citation omitted).

The matter presently before the Court is distinguishable from *Wheeler*. *Wheeler* dealt with issues of proper service of a Notice of Claim. Based upon improper service of the Notice of Claim, equitable estoppel could not be applied. In no pleading before this or any other court is this type of issue raised in the present matter.

Similar to *Rice*, the Defendant's own correspondence makes it clear that when Mr. Morales had recovered they would look at settlement issues (R. 0044). Added with the fact that the Defendant had already made offers to settle the property damage claims (R. 0099, TR 29/6-7) it was only reasonable to believe the claim had been accepted.

Similar to *CECO Corp.*, the elements for applying equitable estoppel are met in the present matter. The Defendant had correspondence that showed Plaintiff's claims were approved, and then subsequently denied it. Mr. Morales reasonably acted in reliance by not commencing a formal lawsuit. Lastly, Mr. Morales suffered an accompanying harm by having his action dismissed.

Similar to *Eldredge*, Mr. Morales has suffered serious harm and a manifest injustice has been placed upon him. Mr. Morales suffered serious injury in which he had to be flown to the University of Utah Hospital for treatment. (TR. 25/1-5). He suffered a lacerated liver and pancreas, a left elbow fracture, a dislocated left wrist, and multiple fractures to his right hand. (TR. 25/6-10). He had to be fed through a catheter for three months, and suffered through about twenty-two months of partial disability. (TR. 25/10-12). He has trouble using his right hand, sitting, and standing. He has incurred over \$69,000 in medical damage. (TR. 25/17-20). These figures and discussion do not include the emotional distress he suffered, lost wages, or similar matters. These facts rise to the level found in *Eldredge*, and meet the requirements for applying equitable estoppel.