2006

Moises M. Morales and Lisa M. Morales v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

Statement of Jurisdiction

This matter comes within the appellate jurisdiction of the Utah Supreme Court under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (West 2004) because this is an appeal from a judgment of a court of record over which this Court does not have original appellate jurisdiction. On July 6, 2006, the matter was transferred to this Court by the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-2-2(4) and 78-2a-3(2)(j) (West 2004).

Issues Presented

1. Waiver

The Plaintiffs' opening brief discusses only the dismissal of Moises Morales's claims. It does not contain any analysis of the dismissal of Lisa Morales's claims. Have Plaintiffs waived Lisa Morales's claim in its entirety?

A. Standard of Review

Generally, any issues "not presented in the opening brief are considered waived and will not be considered by the appellate court." *Brown v. Glover*, 2000 UT 89, ¶23, 16 P.3d 540.

B. Preservation of the Issue

This issue is unique to this appeal and does not require a review of the district court's decision.

2. Compliance with the immunity act

Although the State offered to settle part of Moises's claim, the parties never reached an agreement to settle the entire claim in the ninety days after Moises submitted his notice of claim. By operation of law, the claim was

deemed denied. The immunity act requires a plaintiff to bring suit within one year after the denial of a claim. This action was not brought until nineteen months after the claim was denied. Is the action barred by the immunity act?

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the granting of a motion to dismiss for correctness, affording no deference to the district court. *St. Benedict's Dev. Co. v. St. Benedict's Hosp.*, 811 P.2d 194, 196 (Utah 1991).

B. Preservation of the Issue

This issue was raised in the State's motion to dismiss and accompanying memoranda. R. 6-37; 95-101.

Determinative Constitutional Provisions, Statutes and Rules

The following provisions are attached in Addendum 3:

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-12

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-15

Statement of the Case

1. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a final order of the district court granting the State's motion to dismiss under Utah's governmental immunity act. Plaintiffs brought this negligence action to recover damages sustained in an automobile accident.

2. Course of the Proceedings Below

Plaintiffs Moises Morales and Lisa Morales brought this negligence action against the State of Utah by filing a complaint on September 29, 2005.

R. 1-5. Moises sought damages for injuries he sustained in an automobile accident. R. 2-4. Lisa, his wife, sought damages for loss of consortium. R. 2.

The State filed a motion to dismiss, with supporting memorandum, based on the Utah governmental immunity act's one-year limitation on bringing suit. R. 6-37; 95-101. The district court granted the motion to dismiss, concluding that this action was barred because it was commenced well outside the immunity act's one-year limit. R. 113. The district court rejected the Morales's argument that the State was estopped from relying on the one-year limit, concluding that correspondence from the State's insurance

adjuster did not induce them to delay the filing of their lawsuit and did not lull them into a false sense of security. R. 112-13. The district court further concluded that Lisa Morales's claim was barred because she failed to file a notice of claim, a jurisdictional precondition to bringing suit. R. 112.

The Moraleses then filed this appeal. R. 131.

3. Disposition Below

The district court entered a memorandum decision on May 22, 2006, granting the State's motion to dismiss and directing the State to prepare a final order. R. 111-16. The final order of dismissal was entered June 12, 2006. R. 120-22.

Statement of Facts

In 2003, Moises Morales was significantly injured when his motorcycle collided with a vehicle owned by the State of Utah and driven by a State employee. R. 5.

On December 15, 2003, Mr. Morales properly filed a notice of claim with the State. R. 11-31. His wife, Lisa Morales, never filed a notice of claim. R. 8-9.

On December 22, 2003, the State's insurance adjuster sent a letter to

the Morales's attorney. R. 49 (attached as Addendum 1). The letter acknowledged the attorney's representation of the Moraleses and stated: "We are continuing our investigation into this incident. Once our investigation is complete we will be in a position to make a firm decision on any coverage and liability issues." R. 49. The letter concluded by stating: "This letter does not constitute a waiver of any provisions or requirements of the Governmental Immunity Act . . . nor does it confirm or verify the sufficiency of the claimant's notice of claim as required by the Act." R. 49.

On May 22, 2004, the Morales's attorney sent a letter to the State's adjuster, asking whether the State's investigation was complete and whether the State had made a decision on liability and coverage. R. 46.

On May 26, 2004, the adjuster responded with another letter. R. 44 (attached as Addendum 2). The adjuster stated: "We are willing to consider any settlement offers you may present on behalf of your client." R. 44. He also offered to settle the property damage portion of the claim under the same terms he had previously offered before the Moraleses had retained counsel. R. 44. Regarding the bodily injury portion of the claim, however, the adjuster stated: "Once Mr. Morales reaches an appropriate stage in his recovery[,] I'd welcome obtaining any information you feel might help us in evaluating and settling his bodily injury claim." R. 44. This letter concluded, as did the first

letter, with this statement: “This letter does not constitute a waiver of any provisions or requirements of the Governmental Immunity Act . . . nor does it confirm or verify the sufficiency of the claimant’s notice of claim as required by the Act.” R. 44.

After this May 26th letter, no other communication took place between the parties until this lawsuit was filed sixteen months later, on September 29, 2005. R. 1-5.

Summary of the Argument

Lisa Morales’s claim has been waived in its entirety because Plaintiffs’ opening brief does not contain any discussion of the district court’s dismissal of her claim.

Moises Morales’s claim was correctly dismissed by the district court because this action was not filed within the strict time limit in Utah’s governmental immunity act. Moises points to no ambiguity in the immunity act that would relieve him of this strict time limit. In fact, the statute is clear that suit must be filed within one year of the denial of the claim. And although the Utah Supreme Court’s recent decision in *Davis v. Central Utah Counseling Center* does not make it clear whether collateral estoppel can ever apply without ambiguity in the statutory language, Moises has failed

nevertheless to demonstrate that estoppel should apply in this case to relieve him of the one-year time limit.

Because the district court correctly concluded that this action was untimely, this Court should affirm the district court's order of dismissal.

Argument

1. Lisa Morales's claim has been waived.

Plaintiffs have waived Lisa Morales's claim in its entirety by failing to brief the issue. The argument in their opening brief is limited to only Moises Morales's claim and does not contain any discussion of the dismissal of Lisa Morales's claim. Generally, any issues "that were not presented in the opening brief are considered waived and will not be considered by the appellate court." *Brown v. Glover*, 2000 UT 89, ¶23, 16 P.3d 540. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the district court's dismissal of Lisa Morales's claim.

2. This action is untimely because it was not filed within a year of the State's denial of the claim.

The Utah Supreme Court has "consistently and uniformly held that suit may not be brought against the state or its subdivisions unless the requirements of the Governmental Immunity act are strictly followed." *Hall*

v. Dep't of Corrs., 2001 UT 34, ¶23, 24 P.3d 958. Stringent enforcement is mandated because it is through the immunity act that the “legislature has recognized the necessity of immunity as essential to the protection of the state in rendering the many and ever increasing number of governmental services.” *Id.* at ¶14 (quoting *Epting v. State*, 546 P.2d 242, 243 (Utah 1976)). “Applying this rule of strict compliance, [the Utah Supreme Court has] repeatedly denied recourse to parties that have even slightly diverged from the exactness required by the Immunity Act.” *Wheeler v. McPherson*, 2002 UT 16, ¶ 12, 40 P.3d 632.

The immunity act’s one-year statute of limitation bars this action because it was not timely filed. Moises’s notice of claim was filed on December 15, 2003, the date it was postmarked. R. 12. His claim was deemed denied ninety days later, on March 15, 2004, because it was neither denied nor approved. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-14 (West 2004)¹ (stating that “[a] claim shall be deemed to have been denied if at the end of the ninety-day period the governmental entity or its insurance carrier has failed to approve or deny the claim”). After this deemed denial of his claim, the immunity act required that

¹Because the alleged injury here arose before July 1, 2004, this action is “governed by the provisions of Title 63, Chapter 30, Utah Governmental Immunity Act.” 2004 Laws of Utah ch. 267, § 48. Accordingly, this brief cites to those provisions.

Moises bring his lawsuit within one year, or by March 15, 2005. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-15 (West 2004) (stating that a “claimant shall begin the action within one year after denial of the claim or within one year after the denial period specified in this chapter has expired”). Because this case was not initiated until September 29, 2005 – over seven months after the one-year deadline had passed – Moises’s claim is barred by the plain language of the immunity act. *See Patterson v. American Fork City*, 2003 UT 7, ¶¶ 11 & 13, 67 P.3d 466 (affirming trial court’s dismissal of case that was filed outside the one-year limit); *see also Wagner v. State*, 2005 UT 54, ¶10, 122 P.3d 599 (stating that courts look first to the immunity act’s plain language and go no further unless the language is ambiguous).

Moises should be held to strict compliance with the immunity act because he failed to demonstrate that any ambiguity in the act would relieve him of the act’s strict requirements. In *Davis v. Central Utah Counseling Center*, the Utah Supreme Court recently held that an exception to strict compliance with the immunity act’s provisions will be allowed only “in cases which depended upon ambiguities” in the act. 2006 UT 52, ¶ 44, 147 P.3d 390. Further, a plaintiff must “exercise the diligence necessary to effect strict compliance” with the act. *Id.* at ¶ 48. Where a plaintiff fails to exercise due diligence, the Court declined “to recognize an exception to the requirement of

strict compliance.” *Id.* Instead, “where, as here, the statute is clear, readily available, and easily accessible by counsel, there is no reason to require anything less than strict compliance.” *Id.* at ¶ 49 (quoting *Greene v. Utah Transit Auth.*, 2001 UT 109, ¶ 14, 37 P.3d 1156). Significantly, the *Davis* Court noted that even allegedly “intentionally misleading behavior” by the State that leads a plaintiff to fail to comply with the immunity act will not excuse strict compliance. *Id.* at 45 (quoting *Greene* at ¶ 19). Although the adjuster’s correspondence in this case is not even close to misleading, Moises would still be held to the strict one-year deadline even if the letters were misleading.

Based on the Utah Supreme Court’s decision in *Davis* requiring ambiguity in the immunity act before a party is relieved of its obligation to strictly comply with the act’s requirements, it is not clear whether the traditional estoppel test advanced by Moises applies to an unambiguous provision. But even if it does apply, Moises’s estoppel argument fails for two reasons. First, he has failed to demonstrate that this case qualifies as an exception to the general rule that estoppel may not be invoked against a governmental entity. And, second, he has also failed to demonstrate that the elements of estoppel were present in this case.

First, Moises’s estoppel argument fails because he cannot demonstrate

that this case qualifies as an exception to the general rule that estoppel may not be invoked against a governmental entity. *See Anderson v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 839 P.2d 822, 827 (Utah 1992) (stating that, “[a]s a general rule, estoppel may not be invoked against a governmental entity”). A limited exception to this general rule applies “only if the facts may be found with such certainty and the injustice suffered is of sufficient gravity to invoke the exception.” *Id.* (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Moises’s argument is based on the incorrect premise that the adjuster’s correspondence amounted to an approval of his entire claim and therefore Moises was lulled into postponing suit. This premise is simply wrong because it grossly mischaracterizes the correspondence.

As the district court correctly noted, the State adjuster’s May 26th letter cannot be reasonably construed as an approval of the entire claim. The adjuster stated generally, regarding the entire claim: “We are willing to consider any settlement offers you may present on behalf of your client.” R. 44 (attached as Addendum 2). He then renewed a previous offer to settle the property damage portion of the claim: “I believe it would be appropriate to conclude the property damage *portion* of the claim as soon as possible. I’d be willing to resolve that *portion* of the claim as outlined [previously].” R. 44 (emphasis added). But then the adjuster expressly left open the bodily injury

portion of the claim: “I’d welcome obtaining any information you feel might help us in evaluating and settling his bodily injury claim.” R. 44. The adjuster also stated, as he had done in his previous letter, that none of the requirements of the immunity act were waived. And he even pointed counsel to the sections of Utah Code where the immunity act was located. Significantly, the offer to settle the property damage portion of the claim came without an admission of liability and without an explanation of the reasons behind the settlement offer. It was simply an offer to settle one portion of the claim, not an acceptance of the entire claim.²

Because the most significant portion of the claim was still unresolved, it was unreasonable for Moises to not file suit in the nearly ten months he had remaining before the one-year deadline passed. Because the adjuster’s correspondence clearly communicated without deception that the bodily injury portion of the claim remained unresolved, any injustice worked on Moises by not being able to litigate his claim is not due to the State’s conduct. Where the immunity act’s requirements are clear, “it is really those parties

²If, as Moises suggests, the May 26th letter was an approval of the entire claim, then the district court lacked jurisdiction to hear the case since the immunity act allows suit to be brought only after *denial* of a claim. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-15(1) (West 2004) (stating that “[i]f the claim is *denied*, a claimant may institute an action in district court”). The act does not authorize a suit for approved claims.

who fail to follow the express provisions of the statute correctly that prevent justice, not the strict compliance rule.” *Wheeler*, 2002 UT 16, ¶ 12. Therefore, this case does not qualify as an exception to the general rule that estoppel may not be invoked against the State.

Second, Moises’s estoppel argument fails because he cannot demonstrate that the elements of estoppel are satisfied. Those elements are:

- (a) “a statement, admission, act, or failure to act by one party inconsistent with a claim later asserted”;
- (b) “reasonable action or inaction by the other party taken or not taken on the basis of the first party’s statement”; and
- (c) “injury to the second party that would result from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate such statement, admission, act, or failure to act.”

CECO v. Concrete Specialists, Inc., 772 P.2d 967, 969-70 (Utah 1989).

Because the May 26th letter was not an approval of Moises’s claim, the State’s position now that the claim was deemed denied is not inconsistent with any prior position. The first element is therefore not met.

Nor is the second element met. Moises’s inaction was unreasonable. He should have filed his suit within the year when bodily injury portion of the claim was clearly unresolved. His inaction was even more unreasonable since

he was represented by counsel who was not only charged with a full knowledge of the strict requirements of the immunity act but was expressly told that none of the immunity act's requirements were waived. The State did not lull Moises into inaction because: (1) the correspondence from the State's insurance adjuster could not reasonably be construed as an approval of the claim; (2) Moises was represented by counsel who was charged with an understanding of the plain requirements of the immunity act; and (3) the correspondence contained an express statement that none of the provisions of the immunity act were waived. Nevertheless, even if the State lulled Moises into delaying suit, the Utah Supreme Court has upheld dismissal of a suit for noncompliance *in spite* of the State's allegedly misleading conduct. *Greene*, 2001 UT 109 at ¶¶ 17-19.